MINUTES
Approved by the Committee
Land Use and Housing Study Committee
Friday, September 26, 2025
9:00 A.M.
State Capitol
Boise, Idaho

Legislative members in attendance: Cochairs Senator Jim Woodward and Representative Jordan
Redman; Senators Ben Toews and Ali Rabe; Nonlegislative members in attendance: Matthew Adams
(American Society of Landscape Architects), Jason Blais (Assoc. of Building Officials - Boise), Ken
Burgess (HomeBuilders Assoc.), Jeremy Grimm (City of Sandpoint), Jerri Henry (Dept. of Envir.
Quality), Sherry Maupin (Assoc. of Counties), Bobbi-Jo Meuleman (Boise Chamber), Max Pond
(Assoc. REALTORS), Jonathon Spendlove (American Planning Assoc.), Tyler Wolters (Apt. Assoc.);
Legislative Services Office (LSO) staff: Alex Hatfield and Jennifer Kish. Absent: Representatives Kyle
Harris and Megan Egbert, Trevor Chadwick (Assoc. Idaho Cities), Caleb Roope (Pacific Companies),
Andy Erstad (American Inst. of Architects), and Brett Myron (Assoc. of Gen. Contractors).

Others in attendance (signed in): Patricia Walker - Habitat for Humanity of Idaho; Brian Dale -
Idaho HUD; and Mike Stambulis - Idaho DEQ.

NOTE: Presentations and handouts provided by the presenters/speakers are posted to the Idaho
Legislature's website https://legislature.idaho.gov/sessioninfo/2025/interim/ and copies of those
items are on file at the Legislative Services Office in the State Capitol. Recordings of the meeting
may be available under the committee's listing on the website.

Opening Remarks / Approval of Minutes

At 9:06 a.m., Cochair Redman called the meeting to order; a silent roll call was taken. Approval of
the minutes was moved to a later time, awaiting a quorum of voting members.

Manhattan Institute

Judge Glock, Senior Fellow & Director of Research for the Manhattan Institute, provided his
comments to the committee regarding third-party permitting and inspections. He supported the
amendment of Idaho law to allow builders to hire third-party entities to provide these services
to prevent delays within the building process; delays create costs and those costs often are
passed on to the homebuyer. He noted that there were many variations on how other states
allowed third-party services: immediately upon builder application, after a certain delay of time,
with/without the allowance of fee refunds, etc.

e Mr. Grimm asked about allowing architects and designers to self-inspect. Mr. Glock endorsed that
option. Mr. Grimm asked how warranty and bonding issues would operate. Mr. Glock reported
that some states rely on typical liability law while others require extensive bonding requirements,
which has not appeared to be a hardship on those third-party entities.

e Ms. Maupin supported the option of the third-party entity with a requirement of reporting to
the county not the builder; or self-inspection with a requirement of bonding or warranty work.
Mr. Glock noted that some states did require a report to the local government or an audit of
the inspection.

e Mr. Adams inquired whether the allowance transferred over to entitlement of land use. Mr.
Glock noted that it was more likely building permit and site plan; he did not see this affecting
zoning or entitlement. Mr. Adams inquired about municipalities versus homeowners regarding
infrastructure. Mr. Glock reported that municipalities had not accepted the certifications.


https://legislature.idaho.gov/sessioninfo/2025/interim/lhsc/

e Mr. Blais noted that the City of Boise did use third-party entities, however there was a lot more
work in record keeping and coordination to ensure the work is completed correctly.

e Cochair Woodward inquired about rate structures. Mr. Glock noted that generally third-party
vendors are allowed to establish their own rates and the rates can vary. He observed that
builders may be willing to pay higher rates to get the work done sooner. He stated that some
states have established the rate for the third-party providers.

At 9:26 a.m., with the conclusion of Mr. Glock's comments, Cochair Redman asked the committee for
action on the August 14, 2025, minutes. Sen. Rabe moved to approve the minutes as presented,
Cochair Woodward seconded; the minutes were approved by a unanimous vote.

Pacific Legal Foundation

At 9:27 a.m., Rees Empey, State Policy Manager for the Pacific Legal Foundation (PLF), provided
his presentation Solving the Housing Crisis. He detailed property rights and local control solutions
citing recent litigation and proposed legislation.

e Mr. Pond inquired whether the Safe Harbour from Excessive Exactions Act, the Ending Housing
Extortion Act, or the Private Property Restoration Act had been introduced or put into law in
other states. Mr. Empey stated that the Private Property Restoration Act had been introduced in
Montana, Kansas, and one other state.

e Ms. Maupin opined that 60 days was too short of a timeline to have approvals completed
for small communities. Mr. Grimm echoed that sentiment citing publication and community
response timelines.

e Cochair Woodward, regarding the Private Property Restoration Act, asked about PLF's stance
on zoning. Mr. Empey responded that it was not advocating to eliminate zoning, but rather
supported the right to due process and the takings clause to strengthen private property rights.

e Sen. Rabe inquired about limiting impact fees and the PLFs view on funding mechanisms. Mr.
Empey stated that PLF's stance was that any fees should be reasonably proportional to the
project, and that the foundation typically did not support such a method of financial support as a
duty of government. Sen. Rabe noted that 47 states had such funds available as an attempt to
prevent more fees on private owners.

e Ms. Henry asked who determined whether a fee was "reasonably proportional." Mr. Empey
commented that the fees should be easily defended or the issue then is left to the courts to be
decided. Mr. Spendlove noted that Idaho had a statute that addressed impact fees (67-8204,
Idaho Code) very specifically.

At 9:54 a.m., with the conclusion of Mr. Empey's comments, the committee took a break until
10:13 a.m.

Marcatus Center

A 10:13 a.m., Emily Hamilton, Sr. Research Fellow and Director of the Urbanity Project for the
Mercatus Center, provided her presentation Local Land Use Restrictions and the State Solution.

e Mr. Grimm asked about balancing lot-size minimums and not affecting the character of
neighborhoods. Ms. Hamilton provided Houston, TX, as an example where a nice balance
of lot-size minimums and deed restrictions or HOA residences were mixed to maintain
"neighborhood" character.

e Ms. Maupin expressed concern about ADU allowances in statute due to local communities'
limited infrastructure and geographical issues such as snowload or seismic activity. Ms. Hamilton
noted that any mandates in statute would leave local building code in place to accommodate
those geographical anomalies.

Infrastructure: Drinking and Wastewater

LAND USE AND HOUSING STUDY COMMITTEE
Friday, September 26, 2025 — Minutes — Page 2


https://legislature.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sessioninfo/2025/interim/250926_lhsc_03_EMPEY_ID - PLF Solving the Housing Crisis.pdf
https://legislature.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sessioninfo/2025/interim/250926_lhsc_04_HAMILTON Idaho Housing Committee Presentation.pdf

At 10:56 a.m., Jerri Henry, Drinking Water Protection and Finance Division Administrator for the
Idaho Department of Environmental Quality, provided her presentation Water and Wastewater
Infrastructure: Delivering for Idaho Communities. [Moved up from a later scheduled time in the
agenda.]

e Ms. Maupin asked how many sewer and water districts were in place rather than being operated
by a city; she expressed concern that cities could not expand/grow density if they cannot control
their sewer water. Ms. Henry did not know a count of existing districts.

e Mr. Grimm shared that Sandpoint had a system from the WWII era, over 70 years old, and was
definitely reaching its "end-of-life." The city is attempting to pass a $130 million bond to replace
its system, which will almost double most residents' fees, in order to meet the mandates of the
federal Clean Water Act. He commented that a city is the economic epicenter of most areas, and
without the ability to provide basic functions, a city's financial growth is limited.

e Cochair Woodward asked whether the Clean Water Act mandates allowed for new technology
and recent discoveries of scientific understanding of contaminates. Ms. Henry responded that
some cities have attempted to install alternative methods but were not approved.

At 11:26 a.m., the committee recessed for lunch until 12:30 p.m.

Association of Credit Unions

At 12:35 p.m., Ed Tierney, Chief Lending Officer for Idaho Central Credit Union, provided his
presentation Affordable Housing Initiatives in Idaho on behalf of Idaho credit unions.

e Mr. Grimm inquired about the complexity in funding for condos, duplexes, and mixed-use
dwellings. Mr. Tierney recognized that there are complex rules for dwellings that allow for
multiple owners and lend themselves to renters (condos, duplexes, etc.) He noted that residential
mixed-use was not very common. Mr. Grimm inquired whether loans could be remodeled to
reward applicants who chose to live in dwellings without parking, by increasing the allowable
debt to income ratio. Mr. Tierney was not familiar with such a option, but noted that there were
other markers that could be used to increase a borrower's amount.

e Cochair Redman asked whether loans were held in portfolio for manufactured homes, ADUs,
barn-dominiums. Mr. Tierney responded that his organization does, noting that they also provide
construction loans and finance land. Cochair Redman inquired about observed barriers for those
seeking loans. Mr. Tierney noted that he was not aware of those issues because applicants were
vetted prior to his participation in the loan process.

e Ms. Maupin inquired whether credit unions paid income tax, as a possible source for a housing
fund. Mr. Tierney noted that credit unions do pay property tax and have a large charitable
side as a not-for-profit company. Ms. Maupin noted that banks pay property taxes also and
encouraged more discussion on the issue.

Hayden Homes

At 1:03 p.m., Deb Flagan, Vice President of Hayden Homes, provided her presentation about the
housing company and its efforts in building communities in Idaho.

e Ms. Meuleman asked about the ideal turnaround time to obtain permits. Ms. Flagan responded
that the ideal time was about 14 days but no more than 30 days.

e Sen. Rabe asked why there was such a variation on permit times and impact fees among
jurisdictions. Ms. Flagan commented that the fees and times were affected by various economical
events and political policy within each community. Sen. Rabe inquired about ideas for more
funding. Ms. Flagan stated that property taxes affect the fastest growing cities; it is a balance of
public safety versus personal housing.

LAND USE AND HOUSING STUDY COMMITTEE
Friday, September 26, 2025 — Minutes — Page 3


https://legislature.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sessioninfo/2025/interim/250926_lhsc_09_HENRY_Water and Wastewater Infrastructure DRAFT1.pdf
https://legislature.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sessioninfo/2025/interim/250926_lhsc_09_HENRY_Water and Wastewater Infrastructure DRAFT1.pdf
https://legislature.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sessioninfo/2025/interim/250926_lhsc_05_ICCU_TIERNEY_Affordable Housing Presentation.pdf
https://legislature.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sessioninfo/2025/interim/250926_lhsc_06_FLAGAN_Hayden Homes Presentation - Idaho Land Use & Housing Committee.pdf

e Mr. Blais asked whether the permit times reported in the presentation included the applicant's
time. Ms. Flagan responded that the permit times were based on Hayden Homes' own data for
the time logged over the number of permits submitted.

e Mr. Spendlove commented that his association supported education for communities on the
process. He also noted that it mattered who mandates the fee and who collects/uses the fee.

e Mr. Grimm cautioned establishing required turn-around times on permits, noting that cities with
smaller staff will be hard pressed to meet those deadlines. As per impact fees, he noted that the
variances are based on the level of services needed in that community; fees cannot be used to fix
existing inefficiencies, rather they are for maintaining the level of services already provided.

e Mr. Burgess asked about Idaho's performance compared to Montana or Washington. Ms. Flagan
noted that a city in Washington has the shortest turnaround time for permits: seven days. She
noted that impact fees are just as erratic for Washington and Montana as in Idaho; however,
Montana and eastern Washington are similar in value to Idaho.

e Ms. Maupin asked about the escalation of impact fee discussions and wondered whether it was
connected to the increase of short term rentals. Ms. Flagan purported that the escalation has
occurred because the population of Idaho has grown; more people in a community require a
growth of the infrastructure and a need to fund its expansion.

LEAP Housing

At 1:40 p.m., Bart Cochran, Founder and CEO of LEAP Housing, provided his presentation about
the LEAP housing program and its successes.

e Ms. Meuleman asked whether the LEAP program would be able to utilize the opportunity zones
provided by the new federal tax bill. Mr. Cochran noted that his organization would take
advantage of any funding, but cautioned the opportunity zones expected early exits, which didn't
necessarily meet the timeline for LEAP's projects.

e Ms. Maupin noted that it was difficult for projects to qualify for federally funded LIHTC programs
in resort communities, a state-level resource would be beneficial. She noted that house-burdened
individuals are unable to spend money in their community. Mr. Cochran commented that Valley
County was a great example of where a parallel state LIHTC program would be beneficial. He
commented that an individual spending more than 35% of a budget on an event (medical,
vehicle, housing, etc.) has to make decisions about what they can go without, starting a spiral
towards homelessness. He cautioned that out-of-state landlords control a lot of Idaho's housing;
to support buying local, support renting local and reinvest in your community that way.

With the conclusion of Mr. Cochran's comments, the committee took a break until 2:28 p.m.

Moscow Community Housing Authority Working Group

At 2:29 p.m., Kathy Dawes, provided her comments to the committee regarding efforts to establish
a housing authority within the Moscow community. She was joined by Suzy James who provided
details of her personal experience and issues of living in her manufactured home community.

Committee Discussion / Adjournment

At 2:46 p.m., Cochair Redman requested that the small working groups assigned at the August 14
meeting provide an overview of their recommendations. Mr. Grimm provided a summary for the
group focused on infrastructure; Mr. Spendlove provided a summary for the group focused on
permitting and LUPA; Cochair Redman provided a summary for the group focused on zoning and
LUPA; and Mr. Wolters provided a summary for the group focused on finance and incentives.

Cochair Redman noted that a future meeting would be scheduled for the morning of October
24th, where the committee would discuss in further detail the recommendations. With no further
business, the meeting was adjourned at 3:03 p.m.

LAND USE AND HOUSING STUDY COMMITTEE
Friday, September 26, 2025 — Minutes — Page 4


https://legislature.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sessioninfo/2025/interim/250926_lhsc_07_COCHRAN_Land Use and Housing Committee 9.26.2025.pdf
https://legislature.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sessioninfo/2025/interim/250926_lhsc_08_DAWES_Moscow Community Housing Authority Working Group.pdf
https://legislature.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sessioninfo/2025/interim/250926_lhsc_Small Group Recommendations.pdf

